
 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

1 

 

Meeting Minutes 
September 16th, 2025 

 

Board Members Present: 
Matthew Telliga, Chair 
Jerry Kea, Vice-Chair  
John Hardy 
Willie Buford 
Lauren Coney 
Derek Dohrman  
Ramie Yelle 
Ari McCaskill 
Carol-Anne Blower, PC Liaison 

Board Members Absent: 
 
Staff Present: 
Joshua Cambri, Assistant City Attorney 
Max Lester, Zoning Coordinator 
Dalton Castle, Planner I 

 

ROLL CALL: 

Chairman Telliga called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. Roll was taken, and a quorum was present. The meeting 

was held in the Council Chambers at Flint City Hall as well as via Zoom.  

Matthew Telliga, Chairman – present 
Jerry Kea, Vice-Chairperson – present 
John Hardy – present 
Ari McCaskill – absent (arrived 6:35 pm) 
Ramie Yelle – present 

Willie Buford – present 
Lauren Coney – present 
Derek Dohrman – present 
Carol-Anne Blower – present

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA: 
Commissioner Coney made a motion to approve the agenda, with the by-laws review tabled to the next meeting. 
Commissioner Buford seconded the motion. Chairman Telliga asked for a voice vote.
 
M/S – Coney/Buford 
The motion carried via voice vote. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The draft minutes of July 15th, 2025 and August 19th, 2025 were presented.  
 
Commissioner Coney made a motion to approve the minutes of July 15th, 2025 and August 19th, 2025 as 
presented. Commissioner Buford seconded the motion. Chairman Telliga asked for a voice vote.

M/S – Coney/Buford 
The motion carried via voice vote. 
 
 
 

 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

2 

 
PUBLIC FORUM: 
Chairman Telliga opened the public forum. No one spoke. 
Chairman Telliga closed the public forum. 
 
REPORTS: 
There was no new information to report for this meeting.  
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
There were no communications received for this meeting. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: 

ZBA 25-07: Dorrin Harrold of Sprinkle Shops requests a Use Variance to allow the addition of a new “restaurant 
without alcohol” use within the unit adjacent to an existing barbershop in a GN-1 Green Neighborhood Low 
Density zone district for the property located at 1610 W. Pasadena Ave. (PID # 46-35-385-034). 
 
This applicant was not present. The case was tabled to the next available meeting, or after ZBA 25-08 if the 
applicant arrives prior to adjournment. Chairman Telliga asked staff to follow-up with the applicant.  
 
ZBA 25-08: Edward Usewick, III of Project Flint, LLC requests a Non-Use Variance for relief from §50-152(B) to 
allow crushed asphalt material instead of soil and live ground cover for the property located at 1700 S. Center Rd. 
(PID # 41-16-401-008). 
 
Max gave a summary of the case from the staff report.  
 
Attorney Steven Robb appeared with Mr. Edward Usewick, the sole member of Project Flint, LLC., which owns the 
subject property. Mr. Robb stated this situation came about when Mr. Usewick purchased the property sometime 
in late 2019 to early 2020. From the date of purchase to today the tenant has used the property for a used car 
sales lot. Mr. Robb continued, Mr. Usewick observed flooding in the eastern part of the property abutting Center 
Rd and Mr. Usewick put in the crushed asphalt to remedy the flooding. The contractor that installed the crushed 
asphalt, Mr. Rob Nudd of NuWay Management, was also present to answer any questions about the material 
itself. Mr. Robb stated the crushed asphalt material was not compacted when installed and brought photographs 
of the material taken the previous day. Chairman Telliga asked if they had pictures of the flooding. Mr. Robb said 
they did not have pictures of the flooding, but Mr. Usewick could testify that flooding had occurred.  
 
Mr. Usewick stated that prior to installing the crushed asphalt he had a few contractors inspect the property and all 
of them suggested using the crushed asphalt material. The reason for the flooding issues was attributed to soil 
eroding towards a parcel owned by the City of Burton and an I-69 right-of-way parcel owned by the Michigan 
Department of Transportation. The recommendation given to Mr. Usewick by the contractors was to remove the 
existing soil, pack the soil, and put a light layer of the crushed asphalt. Mr. Usewick stated the crushed asphalt 
material has the same infiltration rate as the grass that was previously there. Mr. Usewick said he considers the  
 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

3 

 
crushed asphalt a landscape improvement that addressed the reported flooding. Mr. Nudd stepped up to answer 
questions. Chairman Telliga asked where the water drains to now and Mr. Nudd answered down into the soil.  
 
Commissioner Yelle referenced staff materials and said he believes the report explains the case well. 
Commissioner Yelle pointed to the before and after photos, noting concern that at first the vehicles can be seen in 
the parking lot but then after the crushed asphalt was installed it became another parking lot area. Commissioner 
Yelle also stated that as a longtime resident he has not noticed flooding in this area.  
 
Commissioner Blower asked if there were any grassy areas left on the property or if the crushed asphalt parking 
areas have completely replaced them. Mr. Usewick stated the right-of-way adjacent to the subject property along 
Center Rd. has grass. Mr. Usewick also said the crushed asphalt area is a display area and is not a parking lot 
because customers and staff cannot park in it. Commissioner Blower restated her question, whether there was 
any green space left on the property. Mr. Usewick said there is a mound of bushes and shrubs as well as shrubs 
on the sides of the building. Commissioner Blower asked what the difference is between the crushed asphalt and 
the soil and grass that was there previously and why the water was not draining. Mr. Usewick said he believes 
over time the soil had become compact and there was another material found below that was not allowing water to 
infiltrate into the ground. Commissioner Blower asked why the compacted soil was not replaced and seeded with 
grass. Mr. Usewick said they felt, after talking with Mr. Nudd and the other contractors, that seeding grass would 
be extremely difficult because the seed may wash out. Mr. Usewick sees the crushed asphalt as a more 
permanent solution.  
 
Commissioner Buford asked if the issue needs to be corrected or if the work has already been completed. 
Chairman Telliga said they installed the material already. Commissioner Buford asked about the cost of the work. 
Mr. Robb said the invoice is provided in the application materials and was approximately $50,000.   
 
Vice-Chairperson Kea asked for clarification whether the material is already installed, and the request is to come 
into compliance. Chairman Telliga confirmed.  
 
Commissioner Yelle noted that as it pertains to blight regulations, vehicles cannot be parked on grass. 
Commissioner Yelle stated he does not believe the crushed asphalt was added specifically for drainage but to 
allow more space for cars to be parked.  
 
Commissioner Dohrman asked if the south and west portions of the property could be returned to soil and grass. 
Chairman Telliga stated a condition could be added to a motion of approval. Commissioner Yelle said he believes 
the request is being made to seek compliance after the unpermitted work was done. Commissioner Yelle added 
that the Board should not allow variances that are requested in this manner. Mr. Usewick added that they had 
several landscaping companies and drainage experts visit the property and they did not know that permits were 
needed for landscaping work. Mr. Usewick’s thought process, after consulting with the contractors, was that the 
crushed asphalt solution would be similar to how golf courses manage drainage. Mr. Usewick added that he is not 
opposed to having a material or finish put on the crushed asphalt to make it environmentally friendly. 
Commissioner Yelle noted the drainage concerns and toxic substances present in the material, as presented in  
 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

4 

 
the staff report. Mr. Usewick stated he uses the same material at several other sites that he owns and leases, it is 
not toxic, and it does not present any type of environmental issue.  
 
Commissioner Yelle made a motion to deny ZBA 25-08, for the non-use variance requested by Edward Usewick, III of 
Project Flint, LLC to provide relief from §50-152(B) to allow crushed asphalt material instead of soil and live ground 
cover for the property located at 1700 S. Center Rd. (PID # 41-16-401-008), based on staff materials, the discussion 
held, and the following findings of fact: 

• It does not comply with Standard 1 because compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance 

governing area, setback, frontage, height, bulk, lot coverage, density, or other dimensional standards does 

not unreasonably prevent the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose and does not render 

conformity with such restrictions unnecessarily burdensome. 

• It does not comply with Standard 2 because the plight is not due to unique circumstances of the property 

and the plight is generally applicable to the same zone district or to general neighborhood conditions. 

• It does not comply with Standard 3 because the need for the variance was created by the applicant or the 

applicant’s predecessor in title. 

• It does not comply with Standard 4 because the variance will cause substantial detriment to adjacent 

properties and the surrounding neighborhood. 

• It does not comply with Standard 5 because the variance will not be consistent with, and will materially 

impair, the purpose and intent of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 

 
The motion did not receive a second.  
 
Chairman Telliga asked Commissioner Dohrman if he would like to make a motion. Commissioner Dohrman said 
he is still reviewing the materials. He added that he is unsure if he wants to make a motion, but if he does, he 
wants to ask staff how to word a conditional motion. Commissioner Dohrman expressed that he would want a 
conditional motion to approve the request within the north and northeast portions of the property only. Chairman 
Telliga said we cannot define the other areas without the areas of the individual sections of the property, and said 
it would be to not expand the crushed asphalt. Commissioner Yelle asked for clarification on the wording “not to 
be expanded” because the entire property has already had all soil and grass replaced. Chairman Telliga 
suggested wording the motion so that the crushed asphalt is not to be expanded. Commissioner Dohrman 
explained that he wants to make a motion to conditionally allow the gravel to remain in the northern and eastern 
portions of the property. Max restated the intent of the motion, to allow the crushed asphalt to remain along the 
northern and eastern property lines while requiring the southern and western portions of the property to come 
back into compliance with soil and live ground cover. Commissioner Dohrman confirmed this is his intent.  
 
 
 
 

(continued on next page) 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

5 

 
Commissioner Dohrman made a motion to conditionally approve ZBA 25-08, for the non-use variance requested by 
Edward Usewick, III of Project Flint, LLC to provide relief from §50-152(B) to allow crushed asphalt material instead of 
soil and live ground cover for the property located at 1700 S. Center Rd. (PID # 41-16-401-008), based on staff 
materials, the discussion held, and the following findings of fact: 

• It complies with Standard 1 because compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance will 
unreasonably prevent the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose or will render conformity with 
such restrictions unnecessarily burdensome. 

• It complies with Standard 2 because the plight is due to unique circumstances of the property and does not 

apply generally to the same zone district or to general neighborhood conditions. 

• It complies with Standard 3 because the need for the variance was not created by the applicant or the 

applicant’s predecessor in title. 

• It complies with Standard 4 because the variance will not cause substantial detriment to adjacent properties 

and the surrounding neighborhood. 

• It complies with Standard 5 because the variance will be consistent with, and not materially impair, the 

purpose and intent of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Commissioner Dohrman added that in order to ensure compliance with these standards, the following condition is 

made part of the motion: 

• The variance shall only apply to the northern, northeastern, and eastern borders of the property.   

 
Commissioner Hardy seconded the motion. 
 
Commissioner Yelle asked for clarification whether the motion applies specifically to the northern and eastern 
portions of the property, and if approved, whether the southern and western portions will then need to be replaced 
with soil and planted with landscaping. Chairman Telliga said that the motion would not allow the crushed asphalt 
area to be expanded. Commissioner Yelle noted that this was not Commissioner Dohrman’s intention with the 
motion. Max asked for clarification in the meaning of “not to be expanded”, noting that the crushed asphalt material 
is already present, thus the motion that was made would require the southern and western portions of the property 
to be returned to soil and live ground cover while the northern and eastern portions would be allowed to remain as 
crushed asphalt. Chairman Telliga agreed, stating that to his understanding the motion as stated would approve 
the work as it is now with no further additions. Commissioner Dohrman disagreed, clarifying that the intention of 
his motion is to have the southern and western portions come back into conformance with the ordinance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

(continued on next page) 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

6 

 
Chairman Telliga asked for a roll call vote.  
 
Commissioner Hardy, yes 
Commissioner Buford, no 
Commissioner Yelle, no 
Commissioner Dohrman, yes  
Commissioner Kea, yes 

Commissioner McCaskill, absent  
Commissioner Coney, yes 
Commissioner Blower, no 
Commissioner Telliga, yes

M/S – Dohrman/Hardy 
5 – yes, 3 – no, 0 – abstain 
The motion for conditional approval failed. 
 
Chairman Telliga stated the motion carried based on a majority vote. Commissioner Dohrman noted the majority is 
based on the total membership of ten members, meaning six votes are required to approve. Max checked the by-
laws and confirmed the simple majority of membership is six votes. Chairman Telliga checked the by-laws and 
confirmed the motion fails with five affirmative votes. 
 
No subsequent motions for approval were made; thus the request is denied. 
 
ZBA 25-07: Dorrin Harrold of Sprinkle Shops requests a Use Variance to allow the addition of a new “restaurant 
without alcohol” use within the unit adjacent to an existing barbershop in a GN-1 Green Neighborhood Low 
Density zone district for the property located at 1610 W. Pasadena Ave. (PID # 46-35-385-034). 
 
Mr. Dorrin Harrold spoke on his request. Mr. Harrold introduced himself and his wife and explained their ties to 
Flint. Mr. Harrold stated he grew up in the neighborhood around the subject property, and he wants to have a 
business that encourages community through local amenities. When Mr. Harrold grew up the property housed Big 
Al’s Little Burgers. He purchased the property in August 2020 with the intention of growing the existing barbershop 
business, but the COVID-19 shutdowns impacted his ability to operate the barbershop. During that time many of 
the staff found other opportunities and have not returned, leaving the salon side of the building vacant since 2022. 
Mr. Harrold stated the Civic Park Neighborhood plan highlights his business, and the nearby businesses, as 
assets to the community. In order to produce income in the building and prevent the structure from becoming 
blighted, Mr. Harrold is seeking the variance to use a portion of the building for an ice cream and coffee shop.  
 
Chairman Telliga asked for clarification of whether the request is to have a salon in one side of the building and 
the proposed use in the other side, or if the whole building will be used for the proposed use. Mr. Harrold stated he 
will still have the barbershop in one portion of the building. He continued, stating that the idea came from several 
residents in the neighborhood who suggested adding an ice cream shop.  
 
Max read from the staff report.  
 
 
 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

7 

 
Chairman Telliga asked staff that if the property is rezoned for the proposed use, would other uses be allowed as 
well or can it be limited to only what is proposed. Max answered that the variance request would specifically be for 
a “restaurant without alcohol use” which would allow any other restaurant that does not serve alcohol. Vice-
Chairperson Kea clarified that the request is for a variance and not to rezone the property.  
 
Commissioner Blower asked if there would be any cross-access between the two sides of the building. Mr. Harrold 
stated the two sides are separate and share a common enclosed entrance area. 
 
Commissioner Yelle made a motion to approve ZBA 25-07 for the Use Variance requested by Dorrin Harrold of 
Sprinkle Shops, to allow the addition of a new “restaurant without alcohol” use within the unit adjacent to an existing 
barbershop in a GN-1 Green Neighborhood Low Density zone district for the property located at 1610 W. Pasadena 
Ave. (PID # 46-35-385-034), based on staff materials, the discussion held, and the following findings of fact: 

• It complies with Standard 1 because the condition, location, or situation of the specific property or 

intended use of the property that creates an unnecessary hardship is unique to that property and the 

zoning district. 

• It complies with Standard 2 because the land, building, or structure cannot be reasonably used for the 

permitted uses in the zoning district. 

• It complies with Standard 3 because the need for the variance was not created by the applicant or the 

applicant’s predecessors in title. 

• It complies with Standard 4 because the use variance will not alter the essential character of the 

neighborhood, nor be a detriment to adjacent properties. 

• It complies with Standard 5 because the variance shall be consistent with, and not materially impair, the 

purpose and intent of the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Commissioner McCaskill seconded the motion. 
 
Chairman Telliga asked for a roll call vote.  
 
Commissioner Hardy, yes 
Commissioner Buford, yes 
Commissioner Yelle, yes 
Commissioner Dohrman, yes  
Commissioner Kea, yes 

Commissioner McCaskill, yes  
Commissioner Coney, yes 
Commissioner Blower, yes 
Commissioner Telliga, yes

M/S – McCaskill/Yelle 
9 – yes, 0 – no, 0 – abstain 
The motion carried via roll call vote. 
 
 



 

CITY OF FLINT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MATTHEW TELLIGA, CHAIRMAN 

8 

 
CITY ATTORNEY REPORT: 
Joshua Cambri, Assistant City Attorney, attended this meeting on behalf of Tom Sparrow and had no information 
to report. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
By-Laws Review – Tabled to the next meeting. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
Vice-Chairperson Kea asked staff if there is supposed to be landscaping installed along the southeastern façade 
of the Michigan State University Extension building. He recalled the variance request to eliminate vegetation in this 
location was previously denied and he has not seen the shrubs installed while the rest of the property looks 
complete. Max stated they reviewed the approved plans and confirmed there should be shrubs in the indicated 
location. They added that they will contact the property owner to confirm, but they suspect the planting timeline 
was shifted from the anticipated spring 2025 timeline and the property owners may be waiting until spring to 
complete the required landscaping.  
 
Commissioner McCaskill referenced a previous case regarding a fence along Miller Rd. Chairman Telliga 
reminded everyone that this specific case is currently under litigation and will be remanded back to the ZBA.  
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
Commissioner Yelle made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner McCaskill seconded the motion.  

M/S – Yelle/McCaskill 
The motion carried via voice vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:52 p.m. 


